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INTRODUCTION


My Love of Deceased Psychoanalysts


As a little boy, I developed a huge obsession with history. Indeed, I spent quite a lot of time memorising the names and dates of all the kings and queens of England; and thus, to my shame, I can still recall that Henry VIII ascended the throne on 21st April, 1509, without having to consult Wikipedia!


Everyone assumed that I would become a geeky, professional historian, and to a certain extent, I have done so. But I also decided at quite a young age that, irrespective of my love for the past, I wished to devote my life to something more immediately impactful, namely, the practice of depth psychology, helping to alleviate the suffering of souls in great distress.


In some respects, while studying psychology and psychotherapy and psychoanalysis, I became, I suppose, what I have come to refer to as a “clinical historian”, namely, a historian who does not necessarily peruse the life and times of Henry VIII but, rather, one who delves into the archives of the history of my patients and thus often unearths important and long-forgotten data from the internal filing cabinets of the mind.


As it happened, although I have dedicated the last forty-plus years of my career to the field of mental health, I have never abandoned my love for history. In fact, after I qualified and set up my long-standing clinical



practice, I then returned to university in my spare time and completed my formal training in historiography, specialising, in particular, in the medieval and early modern eras. Thus, I would now consider myself both a “clinical historian” and, also, an academic historian in the more traditional sense.


In some ways, I see little difference between the fields of psychoanalysis and history; in fact, I have always regarded psychoanalysis not only as a clinical discipline but, also, as a historical one, with a deeply rich and insufficiently explored past. And, from my undergraduate days as a baby student of psychology, I did my very best to meet and interview as many of the elderly grandees of psychoanalysis as possible, desperate to preserve their priceless memories of the olden days, and eager to learn as much as I could from these extraordinary pioneers.


While still in my mid-twenties, I had managed, somehow, to spend a most memorable afternoon with Professor Sigmund Freud's great-niece, Mrs Anne Marlé, who shared with me a wealth of unpublished stories about the family of this great man. I enjoyed both an extremely pleasant tea and, also, a most delicious supper with Dr John Bowlby, a pioneering child psychiatrist, who reminisced at length about his mentors from the 1930s, and who treated me to a vicious impersonation of his vexing clinical supervisor, Mrs Melanie Klein. And, after taking tea with Mrs Marion Milner, and talking at length with Mrs Enid Balint, and dining with Dr Ronald Laing, I began to embark upon a more focused and more extended research project about the life of one of my most profound heroes, the great child psychiatrist and psychoanalyst, Dr Donald Winnicott. Indeed, over the course of the next several decades, I succeeded in interviewing more than 900 people who knew this man personally, including his loyal and long-standing secretary, Mrs Joyce Coles, who bequeathed to me her unique archive of unpublished Winnicott papers and letters and drawings.


Although I had the privilege of training with a number of truly inspiring and amazing teachers—all eminent psychoanalysts and psychotherapists and psychiatrists and psychologists—I often found my time with those elderly octogenarians and nonagenarians far more engaging and, also, far more instructive than my formal seminars and supervisions with those in their fifties and sixties. Often, I learned more about psychopathology and psychotherapy from imbibing the writings of the



early psychoanalysts of the 1910s and 1920s than I did from my own teachers and colleagues. Thus, to my great delight, the study of the history of this profession proved not only a rich research experience, but, moreover, my immersion in the Freudian past gave me a unique education and made me feel so very deeply at home while sitting in my consulting room.


Most of my contemporaries took little interest in the past and I knew no one else of my age who had taken the trouble to meet all of these remarkable personalities or who had studied their unpublished archives. In fact, during my early days as a fledgling researcher, only the late Miss Pearl King, a brilliant psychoanalyst and, also, the founder of the Archives of the British Psycho-Analytical Society, really encouraged me to pursue my historical interests; and, across many decades, she shared her knowledge with me in a most liberal fashion, regaling me with unpublished stories about her own training analyst, Dr John Rickman—one of Professor Sigmund Freud's patients—and, also, with tales of such colourful figures as Mrs Joan Riviere and the hugely controversial Rajah Masud Khan, with whom she had trained in the 1940s.


I absolutely fell in love with each of the elderly psychoanalysts whom I met in person and with the writings of those who had already died. Sadly, all of my ancient mentors have since passed away and I fear that I may well be the only person of my generation to have had personal contact with so many of these extraordinary grandparental figures of the previous eras.


In view of that fact, I have remained determined to pass on as much of the wisdom that I absorbed, not only from my personal encounters with the great and the good but, also, from their archives of papers. And I hope that, by sharing my passion for these ancient figures, I might encourage the next generation of mental health colleagues to benefit from the insights of our founding mothers and founding fathers, as I believe that I have done.


My obsessional interest in the history of psychoanalysis has exposed me to Berlin in the 1920s and 1930s, to Paris in the 1940s and 1950s, and, especially, to Vienna in the 1890s and 1900s and to the study of the early Austrian psychoanalysts who had trained with Freud. But, as someone who has lived most of my life in London, I have also developed a huge interest in the English school of psychoanalysis as well.



And, in the pages that follow, I hope to share a wide range of unknown, hidden stories about different aspects of psychoanalysis in the United Kingdom.


Although Sigmund Freud may have had little do with British psychoanalysis per se, I have chosen to launch this volume with two very brief essays about some rather tiny, but symbolically important, links to England. In the very first chapter, I will describe the rather unknown fact that, in 1919, Freud engaged an English teacher to help him spruce up his linguistic skills in order to receive patients from both Great Britain and the United States of America. This proved a very helpful decision indeed, as it permitted Freud to revive his flagging clinical practice, hard hit by the ravages of the Great War. I will also consider how Freud helped to foster the psychoanalytical movement in Great Britain through his treatment of such pioneering Englishmen as Dr David Forsyth.


In the following chapter, I shall discuss a much-overlooked detail about Freud's death in London. It will not be widely known that, on 23rd September, 1939, Freud died on a couch…not the famous psychoanalytical couch upon which his patients had prostrated themselves for decades but, rather, a very different couch, namely, a death couch or death bed, placed specially in his consulting room, only inches away from his carpet-covered psychoanalytical divan. This chapter will explore Freud's death bed in some detail and will help us to remember that although Freud lived most of his life in the Austrian empire, he did spend his very last months in Great Britain; hence, the story of his death bed does indeed constitute a small, but, nevertheless, interesting moment in the history of British psychoanalysis.


Thereafter, over the course of two chapters, I shall describe the private world of Dr Donald Winnicott, examining how his domestic circumstances impacted upon his professional life. In the first of these studies of little-known Winnicottiana, I will consider the nature of his marriage to Miss Alice Buxton Taylor, a talented, but troubled, woman; and, after chronicling his eventual divorce from his first wife, I shall explore the nature of his subsequent marriage to the social worker, Miss Clare Britton, a much sturdier individual who brought Winnicott far more happiness. In particular, I will investigate whether Winnicott's lengthy personal psychoanalyses with Mr James Strachey



and Mrs Joan Riviere had helped him to overcome his wish to rescue an ill woman and thus forge a more mutually satisfying marriage to a stronger partner.


In the second of these Winnicottian essays, I shall reconsider the case of Donald Winnicott's most famous patient, namely, the little girl known as “The Piggle”. During the 1990s, I had the privilege of meeting and interviewing “The Piggle” in person and I also engaged in correspondence with the father of “The Piggle” and enjoyed an informative telephone interview and a rich exchange of letters with the mother. In later years, “The Piggle” and her sister kindly permitted me access to their unpublished family archives. I have drawn upon all of these materials in order to help us understand this important and compelling story more fully.


After engaging with Dr Donald Winnicott's divergent marriages and with his remarkably rich and detailed child case history, I will then offer two chapters inspired by Winnicott's younger colleague, the visionary Dr John Bowlby, whom I first met in 1984 and who kindly permitted me to interview him and to engage with him on several subsequent occasions, prior to his death in 1990. In the first of my two Bowlbian essays, I shall describe the horrific way in which so-called experts would treat psychologically troubled children, from medieval times until the early twentieth century. Bowlby, like Winnicott before him, had the courage to challenge some of the cruel methods of neglect and punishment, which characterised much of the ethos of child psychiatry prior to the 1920s and 1930s; and in my historiography of child mental health, I will chronicle how Bowlby contributed hugely to the development of a depth-psychological approach to the treatment of emotional illness in the young.


In the second Bowlbian essay, I will provide an introduction to the great woman behind the great man, namely, Dr Bowlby's devoted spouse, Mrs Ursula Longstaff Bowlby. I first met Mrs Bowlby in 1995, several years after her husband's death, and she welcomed me warmly into the family home and generously shared with me a welter of stories about her marriage, and, also, her reminiscences of some of the early psychoanalysts such as Dr Ernest Jones, as well as Dr Edward Glover, Dr Adrian Stephen, Dr Karin Stephen, and so many more. A woman of tremendous modesty, Ursula Bowlby neglected to tell me about her own



informative writings on the psychology of infancy, which I discovered only after her death and which I shall discuss in this survey.


Throughout the remaining chapters, I will provide glimpses into the professional and private lives of three extremely fascinating psychoanalysts from the post-Winnicott, post-Bowlby cohort, namely, Mrs Marion Milner, Mrs Enid Balint, and Rajah Mohammed Masud Raza Khan. I first met Marion Milner at a conference in Cambridge, back in 1985, and I enjoyed my growing friendship with her. She shared a multitude of reminiscences about the early pioneers of British psychoanalysis and offered unique encapsulations of the work of such celebrated figures as Dr Donald Winnicott, as well as vignettes concerning those whose contributions we have now forgotten, such as Mr Anton Ehrenzweig, Dr Margaret Little, and Mr Adrian Stokes. After exploring the life and work of Mrs Milner, I shall then offer an insight into the early years of the wonderfully inspiring Enid Balint, who, as Mrs Enid Eichholz (prior to her marriage to Dr Michael Balint), pioneered the development of couple psychoanalysis in Great Britain. And, after presenting these portraits of both Milner and Balint, I will offer an extremely frank summation of more than sixty unpublished encounters with those individuals who knew the infamous Masud Khan, undoubtedly the most controversial figure in the entire history of psychoanalysis.


I have also provided an account of the memorable day that I spent with none other than Dr Ronald David Laing, back in 1983. Although Laing had trained in London at the Institute of Psycho-Analysis, he always harboured a considerable loathing for many of his teachers, and he eventually removed himself from the formal British psychoanalytical community in order to develop the controversial, but game-changing, anti-psychiatric movement. Although many orthodox Freudians do not regard Laing as a member of the professional family, he does, nevertheless, hold a significant place within the history of British psychoanalysis, not least in view of his work on the meaning of madness; hence, I have included my memories of this genius who, rather like Khan, could also be quite troubling and damaging and, even, at times, somewhat broken.


Thus, across the nine historical cases described in this book, ranging from the brief study of Freud's death bed to the more lengthy examination of “The Piggle”, I will reveal some of the hidden tales of British



psychoanalysis which deserve to be told and which, I would argue, do need to be told. Many of these stories expose the ugly, shadow side of psychoanalytical life. And yet, if we do not discuss these stories and become more conscious of them, and if we fail to understand them, we run the risk of repeating the very errors that our predecessors had made years and years previously. Therefore, I hope that these engagements with Freud and Winnicott and Bowlby and Milner and Balint and Khan and Laing will offer not only some interest and inspiration and, also, some gossip, but, above all, that they will provide younger colleagues with an introduction to these significant figures, thus stimulating, I trust, a fascination with their contributions.


It would certainly please me greatly to know that the individuals featured in these historical essays might furnish us with some fine role models, and, moreover, with a sobering warning about how we might, at times, comport ourselves more sanely.


If I have enjoyed any success during the course of my career, I owe so much of that to my own training analyst, to my clinical supervisors, to my teachers, and to my colleagues within the mental health profession, all of whom have nurtured me and educated me and supported me in a great many ways. Moreover, I must also acknowledge my enormous debt to all of those wonderful pioneering figures, many of whom I have had the privilege of meeting in person and some of whom I have endeavoured to bring to life in the pages which follow.


My love and gratitude to all of the deceased psychoanalysts described herein remains huge, and I warmly encourage others to come to know the older generation and to learn from the incomparable wisdom of our ancestors.















PART I


SIGMUND FREUD AS AN ENGLISHMAN















CHAPTER ONE


“Zooming” in Old Vienna: How Sigmund Freud Became an English-Speaking Psychoanalyst


In March, 2020, the deadly coronavirus pandemic erupted on both sides of the Atlantic Ocean and changed our world immeasurably, causing huge disruption and terror and bereavement.


As the infection rate of this shockingly lethal disease skyrocketed with alarming rapidity, each one of us had to readjust our lives, both personally and professionally, in a desperate effort to ensure our physical safety and our psychological health.


After the outbreak of COVID-19, virtually every single mental health professional, myself included, had to alter the very physicality of our daily clinical work. In more normal times, those of us who practise psychoanalysis and psychotherapy would welcome our patients into a quiet, cosy consulting room and invite these men and women and children to sit in a comfy chair or, even, to recline upon the Freudian couch, perched only inches away from our own seat. But once the coronavirus began to spread, each of us had to transform our practices from such in-person intimacy to a more remote method of mental health care.


As someone who has never particularly embraced modern technology, I elected to communicate with my patients on the old-fashioned landline telephone, rather than via the computer. During the apex of the pandemic, I found this to be a surprisingly effective means of



persevering with psychological treatment. The telephone certainly provided me and my patients with a successful method of engaging in rich, private conversations, and, in consequence, we could readily listen to one another on the landline with a laser-like intensity.


My more technologically sophisticated colleagues, by contrast, transferred their practices immediately to a laptop and quickly became pioneers of “Zoom psychotherapy” and “Zoom psychoanalysis”. Most patients did agree to this new method of online therapeutic work, but many others dropped out of treatment, too exhausted by Zoom fatigue. Many of my fellow colleagues, even the younger ones, complained that, by staring at the screen all day, they had begun to experience unbearable pains and strains in their eyes. Nevertheless, the vast majority of clinicians ultimately found a way to meet their patients regularly and reliably online.


Sigmund Freud, the father of modern psychoanalysis and psychotherapy, died in 1939, long before the invention of the computer and the internet. If he had lived and worked today, I cannot imagine how he would have responded to the sheer fact that his creation of the intimate psychoanalytical conversation has become Zoomified in this way across the planet. Freud might have had to shrug his shoulders and lament that, in the wake of a pandemic, practitioners simply had no other option. But he might also have expressed great sadness that the extremely private and confidential conversations that he had helped to facilitate must now be practised with the assistance of such complicated electrical devices.


It may not be widely appreciated that Sigmund Freud harboured little affection for the technological developments of his time. According to his eldest son, Dr Martin Freud (1957), the father of psychoanalysis did not particularly like the telephone or the typewriter or the radio, or, even, the bicycle. Thus, had he lived through COVID-19, he might well have struggled to adjust to a Zoom platform.


But Freud did have to battle through the Weltkrieg—otherwise known as the Great War—and this global catastrophe affected his clinical practice hugely. Many of his patients could no longer afford psychoanalytical treatment, and many had to enlist in the armed services and could not, therefore, attend sessions with Freud on a daily basis. Hence, in the wake of the First World War, Freud and his loved ones



suffered financially. And then, just as the war began to end, after more than four years of fighting, the deadly “Spanish flu” blighted our planet in 1918, 1919, and 1920, and devastated many families, claiming somewhere between 50,000,000 and 100,000,000 lives, and, perhaps, even more (e.g., Barry, 2004; Arnold, 2018). In view of these losses, many people struggled simply to stay alive, and few had the energy or the resources to pursue a lengthy, multi-frequency psychoanalysis.


Thus, in the wake of the war and the Spanish flu, Sigmund Freud knew that he would have to transform the very nature of his working day.


And he did so, not by installing Zoom, but, rather, by taking English lessons!


By the end of 1918, the world war and the viral pandemic had crushed the Austrian economy almost completely, and few, if any, Viennese could afford Freud's private clinical services. He sensed, and rightly so, that he would have to reconfigure the discipline of psychoanalysis from an exclusively German-language process with local patients to a more international practice for wealthy patients from Great Britain and from the United States of America.


At that time, psychoanalysis had become increasingly well known in English-speaking countries. And both of those Allied nations, winners of the war, had access to far greater monetary resources. Hence, British and American physicians began to write to Freud asking whether they might come to Vienna to train with him and to undergo a short period of psychoanalysis on his famous couch. Freud had no wish to turn down paid work; moreover, he strongly hoped to disseminate his important psychological discoveries worldwide, and thus, he knew that he would have to begin to practise the craft of psychoanalysis in English.


As a deeply well-educated man, steeped in the classics, and quite fluent in a range of foreign languages, Sigmund Freud already enjoyed a facility not only for German, his native tongue, but, also, for French and Italian and Spanish, and, additionally, for the ancient languages of Greek and Latin. Moreover, he had already developed a considerable knowledge of English as well, not least in view of the fact that his two elder half-brothers had relocated to Manchester and had offered the young Freud opportunities to visit (Jones, 1953). But, although he could read medical literature in English, he had not spent much time treating native English-speaking patients.




Thus, in 1919, Sigmund Freud (1919b) actually engaged an English teacher in order to spruce up his linguistic skills.


Fortunately, he did, indeed, begin to attract foreigners—former “enemies”, in fact, from Allied countries—such as Dr David Forsyth, a British physician who specialised in children's medicine, and who came to the Berggasse to undergo a training analysis (Jones, 1919; Freud, 1919c, 1933; cf. Roazen, 2000). Freud offered Forsyth an English-language psychoanalysis, and, in due course, this became an increasingly common procedure among Viennese clinicians, eager to expand their flagging, post-war practices (e.g., Menaker, 1989). The father of psychoanalysis experienced so much gratitude towards Forsyth that, after the arrival of this new patient, Freud instructed Frau Beata Rank, the wife of the psychoanalyst Dr Otto Rank, to host a special dinner party in Forsyth's honour (Roazen, 2000; cf. Roazen, 1990).


We know from Freud's patient calendar (i.e., his clinical appointments diary) that Forsyth commenced treatment on Monday, 6th October, 1919, and attended for six sessions weekly—Mondays through Saturdays inclusive—until Tuesday, 18th November, 1919. In total, he participated in thirty-eight psychoanalytical sessions—a relatively short experience by contemporary standards but by no means unusual at that period of time, especially for foreigners who wished to acquire a taste of Freud (May, 2006, 2007a, 2007b).


Forsyth repaid Freud's kindness and attention with gratitude. Upon his eventual return to London, he became not only a progenitor of psychoanalytically orientated paediatrics, as well as a key early member of the British Psycho-Analytical Society, but, moreover, the author of a very loyal textbook, The Technique of Psycho-Analysis (Forsyth, 1922), and, also, an insightful paper on the use of Freudian methods in the understanding of paranoid dementia, published in the prestigious Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine (Forsyth, 1920).


Having undertaken lessons and having begun to offer foreign-language psychoanalysis proved a most wise strategy because, by October, 1920, fully five of Sigmund Freud's (1920b) nine patients had come to him from English-speaking countries, and many more would follow in due course (e.g., Freud, 1920a; Stern, 1922; Grinker, 1940; Wortis, 1940, 1954; H. D. [Hilda Doolittle], 1945a, 1945b, 1945c, 1945d, 1946, 1956; Eissler, 1952, 1953; Oberndorf, 1953, 1958; Winnicott, 1969b; Blanton,



1971; Khan, 1973; Dorsey, 1976; Kardiner, 1977; Burlingham, 1989; Cameron and Forrester, 1999; Forrester and Cameron, 2017). With deep relief, Freud (1919a, p. 340) could at last begin to see what he described as “The first window opening in our cage”.


In fact, after a time, Freud had welcomed so many British and American patients into his consulting room that he often had no free spaces at all and had to refer keen individuals to his more junior colleagues. When the young London-born Mr Lionel Penrose, a budding geneticist, physician, and psychoanalytical enthusiast (and, in years to come, the father of the future Nobel Laureate, Professor Sir Roger Penrose), requested treatment from the founder of psychoanalysis, Freud had to refuse as he simply had no vacancies and, consequently, he referred Penrose to his talented colleague, Dr Siegfried Bernfeld (Roazen, 2000).


Thus, although Freud had crafted psychoanalysis in his native German language, he succeeded in reframing his daily professional life to become an honorary Englishman of sorts, thus filling his practice successfully and managing to support his family. In this way, he transformed his clinical work, much as my colleagues and I have endeavoured to do nowadays by transferring our practices to the telephone or the laptop, with many of us having had to become overnight experts in “Zoom psychoanalysis”.


Freud undertook the reconfiguration of his German work into English in large measure to feed his family, but his Anglicisation of psychoanalysis produced very positive side effects. Two of his patients, Mr James Strachey, a Briton, and Mrs Alix Strachey, his American-born wife, became Freud's two most prominent translators, without whom we would never have enjoyed the privilege of immersing ourselves in the twenty-four volume collection of Freud's writings, The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud, published between 1953 and 1974 (Freud, 1953a, 1953b, 1953c, 1953d, 1955a, 1955b, 1955c, 1955d, 1957a, 1957b, 1958, 1959a, 1959b, 1960a, 1960b, 1961a, 1961b, 1962, 1963a, 1963b, 1964a, 1964b, 1966, 1974).


Furthermore, Freud had little sense that, by 1938, he and his family would, in due course, have to emigrate from Austria to Great Britain in order to escape the Nazi menace. Thus, one might argue that his English



lessons of 1919 might well have proved indispensable on such numerous different fronts.


In the wake of the twenty-first-century coronavirus outbreak, many colleagues and I have had to make a complicated adjustment to our long-established practices, and, moreover, our patients have had to do so as well. Fortunately, most of us seem to have managed with remote therapy across this ongoing pandemic, especially during periods of lockdown restrictions. In fact, once it became apparent that patients need no longer attend the consulting room in person, several of my colleagues had even received referrals from patients who live overseas! In the olden days, if one wished to consult a psychotherapist in London, one actually had to live in the United Kingdom, but, nowadays, with the availability of Zoom and the telephone, the possibilities may well become limitless.


Let us hope that, with the ongoing survival and, moreover, expansion of psychoanalytical work across the world, those of us who continue to honour and practise Freud's legacy might be able to contribute to the improvement of everyone's mental health amid this tragically ugly chapter in world history.













CHAPTER TWO


Freud's London Death Bed: Notes on the “Invalid Couch” at Maresfield Gardens


It may not be widely appreciated that, on Saturday, 23rd September, 1939, Sigmund Freud died, not in a bed but, rather, on a couch.


Freud did not pass away on the famous psychoanalytical couch but, rather, he did so on a special “invalid couch”, installed in his study.


As this less well-known couch has long remained in storage at the Freud Museum London, few psychoanalytical historians have ever seen Sigmund Freud's actual death bed. A close scrutiny of this “other” couch might seem rather fetishistic; nevertheless, it may be of some interest to contemporary psychoanalytical clinicians to learn more about Freud's final moments.


Sigmund Freud arrived in London on 6th June, 1938—a refugee from the Nazis—but he did not take occupancy of 20, Maresfield Gardens, in London's Swiss Cottage, until 27th September, 1938, having spent the previous months in Primrose Hill at 39, Elsworthy Road. In his new home, parallel to the Finchley Road, Freud ensconced himself in the combined consulting room and study on the ground floor, but he slept in a small bedroom on the first floor with Frau Professor Martha Freud, his devoted wife. As Sigmund Freud, then eighty-two years of age, struggled to ascend or descend the spacious staircase (Berthelsen, 1987), his son, Dr Ernst Freud, a skilled architect, arranged for the installation of a



lift which transported the father of psychoanalysis from one level to the next (Roazen, 1993; cf. Kahr, 2021a).


In spite of his illness, Freud worked vigorously during the final months of 1938 and during much of 1939. He even treated a small number of psychoanalytical patients and he also continued to write. Moreover, Freud spent time lounging in his garden on a special hanging couch. However, as his cancer progressed, he became increasingly necrotic (Schur, 1972). By 1st August, 1939, Freud (1939) ceased clinical practice entirely and, not long thereafter, it became clear that he could no longer be shuttled upstairs in the lift, and that he would have to be cared for full-time in his more spacious and brightly lit, book-lined and antique-strewn study. This extraordinary room had now become a veritable sick bay (Jones, 1957; Schur, 1972).


Dr Ernest Jones (1957, p. 245), Freud's colleague and, ultimately, biographer, noted that the father of psychoanalysis benefited from having his sick bay downstairs, in the study, because it afforded a clear view into the garden and permitted him to gaze at his “beloved flowers”; whereas his upstairs bedroom, by contrast, looked out onto the road. Dr Max Schur (1972, p. 527), Freud's physician, reported that, at one point, in September, 1939—shortly after the eruption of the Second World War—Freud had to be moved to a so-called “safe zone” at Maresfield Gardens, in the centre of his study, thus repositioned away from the large garden windows, which could have shattered dangerously from potential bombings (Young-Bruehl, 1988).


The renowned psychoanalytical couch, which Freud had brought to London from Vienna, and which he had used in his practice for more than fifty years, would not have provided the dying man with sufficient orthopaedic support; hence, the family purchased a special “invalid couch” from J. & A. Carter, a well-known company, based on Great Portland Street in Central London, which specialised in the manufacture of furniture for the aged and the disabled.


J. & A. Carter supplied the Freud household with a suitable invalid couch, some 224.5 centimetres in length, 54 centimetres in height, and 77 centimetres in width, consisting of a dark, mahogany frame with turned feet, and an upholstered base attached to the upper side of the frame. This special invalid couch, one of the manufacturer's many types of patient furniture, also contained a special ratchet which permitted the



head end to be lifted. Freud's new bed boasted a silk-trimmed seat and a cotton fabric covering, decorated with a floral pattern, and trimmed with blue, pink, and green silken cords on the seat and on the back.


The firm of J. & A. Carter, originally established in London circa 1880 by one John Carter, had become one of the leading suppliers of patient furniture, manufacturing not only invalid beds and chairs and appliances but, also, hospital surgical furniture, bath chairs, and, even, ambulances. Headquartered initially at 6A, New Cavendish Street, John Carter's company, which eventually came to receive a royal warrant, also produced revolving bed-tables, wheelchairs, invalid carriages, hand-lifters, stretchers, and perambulators. Furthermore, Carter created a patented “literary machine”—essentially a bookstand designed to help reduce the orthopaedic strain on Victorian scholars who had become fatigued from holding heavy tomes! In due time, John Carter amalgamated his business with that of Messrs. Alfred Carter of Holborn Viaduct and Shoe Lane, and they eventually came to trade as Messrs Carter and, later, as J. & A. Carter.


The particular type of invalid couch, which had now come to serve as Sigmund Freud's bed, had first become popular during the Regency period; and from the 1830s onwards, it would be fitted with springs and other mechanisms, which allowed for the adjustment of the patient's bodily position (cf. Kravis, 2017).


We do not know precisely when Freud moved into his study full-time and lay upon his invalid couch but, in all likelihood, he did so only a few weeks before his death. Sadly, at that time, the genius physician and psychoanalyst began to experience some memory loss (Roazen, 1995) as well as tremendous bodily pain from his long-standing carcinoma. Tragically, Freud's bones became more and more foetid and emitted a putrefying odour which frightened his beloved chow (Jones, 1957) and, also, attracted countless flies; consequently, his attendants had to cover his makeshift invalid bed with mosquito netting (Schur, 1972).


As all Freud scholars will know, during his final days, he read Honoré de Balzac's novel, La Peau de chagrin: Roman philosophique, in the original French, in an edition published in Vienna (Balzac, n.d. [1920])—a book about a man whose skin begins to decompose. As Freud remarked to his physician, Dr Max Schur, “This was the proper book for me to read; it deals with shrinking and starvation” (quoted in Schur, 1972, p. 528).




[image: images]


Illustration 1 Professor Sigmund Freud's death bed at 20, Maresfield Gardens, Swiss Cottage, London, reproduced by courtesy of the Freud Museum London.


In spite of his progressive emaciation and his excruciating pain, Freud bore his final days with fortitude. Indeed, his sister-in-law Minna Bernays remarked that a more ordinary man might already have killed himself by this point (Roazen, 1993).


Eventually, in the small hours of the morning of 23rd September, 1939, the eighty-three-year-old Sigmund Freud, assisted by an injection of morphine, died on his invalid couch, only a few feet away from the more famous carpeted and cushioned psychoanalytical couch.


To this day, Sigmund Freud's death bed or invalid couch remains in the possession of the Freud Museum London, carefully preserved in a small upstairs storage room, which also contains the many boxes of archived papers of both Sigmund Freud and Anna Freud. This precious piece of furniture—catalogue item LDFRD 4902—will, perhaps, one day be displayed to members of the general public. In the meanwhile, we must extend our thanks to the curatorial staff of the museum for permitting the publication of a photograph of this hugely resonant, even iconic, “other” couch—possibly the first time that such an image has appeared in print (see Illustration 1).













PART II


UNPUBLISHED WINNICOTTIANA















CHAPTER THREE


Donald Winnicott's Wives: From Alice Buxton Taylor to Clare Britton


A Syllabus Without Winnicott


Many years ago, as a young trainee at the Tavistock Marital Studies Institute (subsequently renamed as the Tavistock Centre for Couple Relationships and then, more recently, as Tavistock Relationships), I enjoyed the privilege of learning the art of couple psychotherapy from our nation's most clinically sophisticated specialist practitioners. I worked extremely hard during this training, and I did my best to develop a clinical muscle in order to engage with some very deeply troubled and traumatised couples.


Although I received tuition and clinical supervision from many of the United Kingdom's couple psychoanalytical superstars, I must confess that our reading seminars left something to be desired. Each week, we pored over papers written predominantly—almost exclusively—by Melanie Klein and her followers, but we never had the opportunity to explore a single essay by Donald Winnicott! This might seem rather strange to current-day students, in view of Winnicott's undisputed celebrity status within the psychoanalytical canon; but, back in the old days, the Tavistock Clinic, then home to the marital department, adopted an almost exclusively Kleinian emphasis, and many of its practitioners regarded Winnicott as rather a suspicious character who had dared to



develop his own ideas. Indeed, it will not be widely known that, although Winnicott occasionally delivered guest lectures at the Tavistock Clinic during the 1950s and 1960s, he failed to receive the staff appointment for which he had applied (Dicks, 1970; cf. Kahr, 2023b).


Fortunately, in spite of the dearth of Winnicottian input on our course, I had already discovered the works of this great man quite independently, having benefited from a training analysis with one of Winnicott's protégés. Hence, in spite of the fact that my fellow trainees and I never studied Winnicott formally as part of the curriculum, I did, happily, develop a fascination for his work and, also, for his personal and professional life; and in 1996, I published the first biography of this heroic figure (Kahr, 1996a), whose contributions remain of the deepest interest to me.


The lack of tuition about Winnicottiana saddens me greatly because, even though Donald Winnicott never worked as a “couple psychoanalyst” or “couple psychotherapist” per se, he not only had more experience of consulting with parental couples than any other psychoanalyst in world history—having interviewed some 40,000 mothers and fathers over a long clinical lifetime (Winnicott, 1948b)1—but, moreover, his theories about a whole range of subjects have much to teach contemporary couple mental health professionals (as well as those who specialise in other branches of psychological practice).


In the context of a brief communication, one cannot in any way do justice to the myriad Winnicottian concepts which might be instructive for couple and family mental health workers. To hint at but a few examples, I have certainly enjoyed considerable honorary supervision from Winnicott (1960a, 1962f, 1963b, 1963h) by drawing upon his notions of dependency, as applied to couples, especially as we consult with so many fused and merged partners who often function more like mothers and absolutely dependent babies rather than as two sexually mature adults. Similarly, I have derived significant inspiration from Winnicott's (1955a, 1956a, 1960b) concepts of the true self and false self, aware that most couples spend a great deal of time pretending to be devoted and affectionate in both public and private settings when, in fact, each member often wishes to murder the other, and neither believes himself or herself to be inhabiting an honest and authentic marriage. And, of course, Winnicott's (1949b) incomparable notion of hate in the countertransference has proved to be especially helpful, as every couple practitioner must navigate the sadistic rage which often emerges in



sessions (and which will be directed, frequently, towards the psychotherapist). Indeed, each of us must, somehow, find a way to contain and to process our hostile feelings—often projections of the patients’ hostilities—rather than retaliate against the couple in an unconscious way. Thus, Winnicott has provided us with a cornucopia of clinical and theoretical writings which have the capacity to enlighten us and to support us as we endeavour to practise this challenging branch of psychotherapeutic work.


Over the last thirty years or more, I have devoted a considerable amount of time not only to a careful scrutiny of Winnicott's plethora of books and papers but, also, to his private and professional biographical journey. I have now read through the hundreds of thousands of pages of his unpublished correspondence and related documents in archives on both sides of the Atlantic Ocean, and I enjoyed the privilege of having interviewed nearly 1,000 people who knew Winnicott personally, ranging from family members and friends to colleagues and patients. Thus, as a couple mental health practitioner, I have learned a great deal about the marital relationship not only from having studied Winnicott's publications but, also, from having investigated his two private marriages.


In the pages that follow, I shall endeavour to share some highlights of this hitherto unknown biographical research about the domestic life of Donald Winnicott in the hope of discovering whether a careful immersion into the psychodynamics of his marital history may be of value to those of us who still have much to learn about the complexities of the spousal relationship. By reviewing what I have come to learn about his first marriage to Alice Buxton Taylor, which ended painfully in divorce and sadness, and about his second marriage to Clare Britton, which proved infinitely more gratifying, I will attempt to address a key question of unconscious marital choice, namely, why did Winnicott wed these particular women? I shall also explore the vital question as to whether Winnicott's extensive experience of personal psychoanalysis impacted upon him sufficiently and permitted him to learn from bitter life events.


The First Mrs Winnicott


On the morning of Saturday, 7th July, 1923, Dr Donald Woods Winnicott had every good reason to be jubilant. This young, attractive man had grown up in a prosperous family, in the peaceful, bucolic town



of Plymouth,2 on the coast of the county of Devon, doted upon by innumerable family members and servants. He had received a premier education at the Leys School, a private Wesleyan Methodist boarding school, followed by undergraduate studies at Jesus College in the University of Cambridge—one of the most venerable, long-standing educational institutions in the world. Thereafter, he completed his training as a physician at St. Bartholomew's Hospital Medical College in London—the oldest and most prestigious of Great Britain's medical colleges. As a “Bart's man”, Winnicott would be assured of a rich career as a medical practitioner. Indeed, in 1923, not long after qualification, he obtained his first permanent post as Assistant Physician at the Paddington Green Children's Hospital in West London and would soon open a private office on Weymouth Street, near Harley Street, the epicentre of the nation's elite medical district. Above all, Winnicott had survived the Great War intact, with no physical injuries, in spite of having served on the naval destroyer HMS Lucifer (Kahr, 1996a), in which capacity he experienced active combat over several months (Clare Winnicott, 1978).3


Whether Winnicott paused on that July morning in 1923 to reflect upon his multiple good fortunes, while fixing his starched collar and tie, or while donning his tailcoat with a boutonnière, one cannot say. But it would not be unreasonable to suspect that he awoke full of excitement, before heading towards the parish church in Frensham, in the county of Surrey, where, later that day, he would marry his fiancée, Miss Alice Buxton Taylor—a good-looking woman with a most fetching, twinkly smile. A brilliantly intelligent natural scientist, and one of the first female graduates of the University of Cambridge, Miss Taylor also painted and sculpted with a high degree of skill and, moreover, wrote delightful poems and short stories. In many respects, this Renaissance woman epitomised the very essence of playfulness and creativity.


Although we know nothing of the bride's state of mind on that summer morning, Alice Taylor, too, may have enjoyed a private moment of triumph, not only for having become engaged to a handsome and promising young doctor but, even more so, for having found any husband at all, in view of the fact that a very substantial number of the men of her generation had died during the Great War. Indeed, both of Donald Winnicott's sisters, Violet and Kathleen—chronological contemporaries of Miss Taylor—remained lifelong spinsters, unable to attract male



spouses, in spite of their tremendously pleasant personalities and their family wealth. Thus, finding a husband in 1923 often represented quite a remarkable achievement.


Viewing the rare photograph of the wedding party which survives, bequeathed to me by Alice Winnicott's family many years ago, one cannot help but smile with delight at the numerous happy faces. Donald Winnicott and his new bride each beam with considerable glee, as do so many of the relatives and friends who surround the young couple as a safe and protective cordon. The wedding portrait brims with privilege, not only monetary wealth, but, of greater importance, with what we would now refer to as psychological wealth. Indeed, the newly married Dr Winnicott and Mrs Winnicott stood on the brink of a glittering future.


I have endeavoured, thus far, to provide a snapshot of the newly married couple, based solely on confirmable, documentable facts. Donald Winnicott did, indeed, hail from a bountiful Devonian family, son of a former mayor of Plymouth who also owned one of the town's most successful businesses. In fact, Winnicott grew up in a vast home with a garden so huge that it consisted of no fewer than four separate levels (Clare Winnicott, 1978). And he did study at an exclusive boarding school followed by a studentship at an ancient university, and then, after a short stint in the navy, he matriculated to a prestigious medical school. Alice Winnicott, too, had studied at the University of Cambridge—at Newnham College—and had already begun to produce a copious number of appealing works of art in multiple media. Their public selves could not be bettered.


And yet, as every practising psychoanalyst or psychotherapist will appreciate, the image of the smiling Dr and Mrs Winnicott captured in their wedding-day picture—though seemingly quite genuine—reveals only a part of the story. Decades later, Donald Winnicott (1955a, p. 16) would, quite famously, introduce the notion of the “false self” into the canon of psychoanalysis—a concept which he developed in apposition to that of the “true self” (Winnicott, 1955a, p. 16). Naturally, one cannot help but wonder whether the wedding portrait represents the true marital selves of Donald and Alice, or whether each spouse simply imported his and her best false self for the photographer? In other words, every couple mental health worker must maintain the possibility that these



seemingly blissful newlyweds might have struggled, or would come to struggle, with quite a considerable shadow side.


As marital psychotherapists will appreciate only too acutely, many, if not most, of the clients who consult with us will present themselves as impressive people by day—working as doctors, or accountants, or actors, or bankers, or parents—often quite successfully so—but, in due course, they will reveal their less impressive, more traumatised parts, which often manifest only at night, in the privacy of the sitting room or the bedroom. As couple psychotherapy unfolds, we invariably hear stories of spousal infidelity, of sexual addictions, of emotional betrayal, of psychological misattunement, of profound disappointment and, even, of physical violence. In fact, over the years, I have worked with numerous couples who lament at the very outset of the first consultation session, “If you met him at a party, you would think he was the most lovable, charming, amazing man. But he treats me like rubbish,” or “If you met her socially, you would be completely captivated. Everyone loves her. But she treats me like a fucking piece of shit.”


Couple psychotherapy and couple psychoanalysis did not exist as formal disciplines in Great Britain in 1923. Freudian practitioners would, from time to time, offer parallel, but separate, treatment sessions for husbands and wives. For instance, the Englishman, Mr James Strachey, and his American-born wife, Mrs Alix Sargant-Florence Strachey, underwent psychoanalysis with Professor Sigmund Freud in Vienna during the early 1920s; but each party attended for separate sessions in Freud's consulting room on the Berggasse at different times of day (e.g., Roazen, 1995). To the best of our knowledge, Freud never treated both Stracheys in the same room at the same time. Several of the couples who worked with Freud in this arrangement, which automatically split the two partners, either gravitated towards divorce or ended up in a state of emotional stagnation (cf. Kahr, 2017a).


But, if modern-day, Tavistock-style couple psychotherapy—in which two spouses attend for the very same session—had existed in England in 1923, and if Dr and Mrs Winnicott had agreed to a joint consultation, one must wonder what private information might have emerged? Indeed, what do we know about Donald Winnicott's marriage, about his capacities as a spouse, and about his most private sexual thoughts and his deeper inner world?




In many respects, it would be absolutely foolhardy to attempt a reconstruction of the marital dynamics of this couple, never having met either of these rich and engaging people, as Alice Winnicott died in 1969, and Donald Winnicott passed away not long thereafter in 1971. But, in spite of the fact that I had no direct, first-hand experience of the Winnicotts, I have, over the last forty years, interviewed a very large number of individuals who did, in fact, know Donald Winnicott personally—including many of his colleagues, his patients, his family members, his private secretary, and even his tailor, as well as his cardiologist. Far fewer of these men and women knew Alice Winnicott, but quite a number of them had, indeed, met her and knew her extremely well, not least two of her nephews and two of her nieces, each of whom provided copious memories and, sometimes, plentiful archival materials about the personal life of the first Mrs Winnicott. Furthermore, I have had the privilege of studying hundreds of thousands of pages of family letters and other documentation preserved in various archives—both public and private—including a rare cache of Donald's correspondence with Alice.


Thus, on the basis of this extensive research, both oral historical and archival, I shall now attempt to offer a fuller portrait of the intimate marital life of Donald Winnicott, exploring some questions which, I hope, may be of relevance to the contemporary couple psychoanalytical practitioner.


If Donald and Alice walked into the headquarters of Tavistock Relationships today, I suspect that most of the staff clinicians would be extremely impressed by their warm demeanour, by their significant professional capacities in their respective fields of psychoanalysis and art, and by their well-mannered graciousness of character. But as the sessions unfolded, it would not be unreasonable to suspect that the false selves of these two talented spouses would, eventually, begin to crumble, allowing their true selves to be revealed more fully over time.


But what, precisely, might have emerged? What do we know about Donald Winnicott's first marriage?


After their wedding in 1923, the Winnicotts established a home in Surbiton, in the county of Surrey, on the outskirts of London, a town to which Donald referred, with characteristic playfulness, as “Suburbiton” (quoted in Kahr, 1996e). Although he and Alice created a pleasant life



together and often played music together, Donald also abandoned his wife quite frequently, travelling into London not five but, rather, six days per week, in order to engage in his medical work with ill children and their families.


Although Winnicott boasted an impressive curriculum vitae as a Cambridge and Bart's graduate, just beneath that surface, he did, I strongly suspect, struggle with great shame. It will not be widely known or appreciated that Winnicott had barely eked his way through medical training. First of all, he undertook his pre-clinical undergraduate studies at the University of Cambridge between 1914 and 1917, during which time a great many of the senior teachers had enlisted in the fighting forces; thus, as a young student, Donald Winnicott had access to merely a reduced pre-medical curriculum, delivered under the most horrifically deprivational and terrifying of wartime circumstances. Furthermore, although medical students did receive exemption from military service during the early days of the Great War, many of the hardier young men joined up, nevertheless. Thus, one wonders whether Winnicott experienced a sense of inadequacy and insufficiency for not having received a robust training in the sciences and for not having served his country as virtually all of his classmates did, many of whom then lost their lives in combat (Stirland, 1963; Howard and Houghton, 1991; Kahr, 1996a). Inadequately educated during these appalling wartime conditions, Winnicott did not engage with his studies in a satisfactory manner, and he graduated with only a third-class degree (Cambridge University Reporter, 1917).


Towards the very end of the war, Donald Winnicott enlisted as a temporary probationer surgeon in the Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve, but he did so for only a few short months, before progressing to St. Bartholomew's Hospital Medical College. Although clearly sufficiently adept to have received a place at this premier institution, he soon found himself outclassed in every respect by the many brainbox medical trainees who overshadowed him. With classmates such as Christopher Andrewes, a future virologist of note, who would also become both a Fellow of the Royal Society and, additionally, a Knight Bachelor, Winnicott did not distinguish himself at all from an academic perspective; indeed, according to hospital records, he never received a single prize or merit or distinction of any kind. Once again, he simply ambled



through his studies with unremarkable, albeit passable, results. And while the other contemporaries often published serious medical contributions in the St. Bartholomew's Hospital Journal (e.g., Andrewes, 1921), Donald Winnicott, by contrast, produced merely a handful of poems and other ditties (e.g., Winnicott, 1918a, 1918b, 1919). Furthermore, during his tenure as a medical student, Winnicott (1949c) spent approximately three months on one of the wards at St. Bartholomew's Hospital as a patient, suffering from an extremely serious mediastinal pleurisy—possibly a result of the Spanish flu pandemic—which interrupted his studies hugely and which may have dented his confidence and his sense of bodily potency (Kahr, 2020c, 2021c, 2021d, 2021e).


In view of his meagre, barely good-enough performance, it soon became clear that he would never receive patronage from either the leading specialists in internal medicine or in surgery—then considered the apex of British medicine—and, consequently, he had no alternative but to embrace a much-neglected and much-denigrated speciality, namely, that of children's medicine. Although the United Kingdom now provides highly impressive clinical services for young people, facilitated by the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, during Winnicott's tenure at St. Bartholomew's Hospital, children rarely received medical treatment in hospitals as most parents simply could not afford the fees in the era preceding the creation of socialised health care. At that time, Great Britain did not boast a royal college for the study and treatment of sick children; indeed, British physicians did not even use the word “paediatrics”. During the 1910s and 1920s, many English medical practitioners considered this term to be a vulgar Americanism. Instead, those few men who undertook service in children's hospitals referred to themselves as physicians in children's medicine rather than as paediatricians (e.g., Winnicott, 1937; Cameron, 1955; cf. Royal Society of Medicine, Section of Paediatrics and Child Health: Symposium on the History of Paediatrics 2000, 2000).


To compound matters, Winnicott embraced not only one of the least glamorous areas of medicine, but he also began to pursue private readings in an even more seemingly bizarre form of medical practice, namely, psychoanalysis. Winnicott's tutor in psychiatry, Sir Robert Armstrong-Jones (1917, p. 216), lambasted Freudian psychoanalysis as a “repulsive” Jewish psychology fit only for Austrians and certainly not



for Britons. Perhaps Armstrong-Jones’ absolute condemnation of depth psychology had piqued Winnicott's curiosity or had even excited his mischievous fervour and, gradually, the young medical student began to explore psychoanalysis in his spare time. Thus, as someone who chose to specialise in children's medicine, and as someone who admitted to a growing interest in Freudian psychology, Winnicott did not, for the most part, inspire confidence among the senior physicians of the era. And when, in 1923, Winnicott finally set up in practice, he had few, if any, private patients, as his colleagues had not yet come to respect him significantly; thus, to avoid being shamed by the porter at his private medical office on Weymouth Street, Winnicott would actually pay some of his impecunious hospital patients to travel to his consulting room so that he could hold up his head with pride (Clare Winnicott, 1978).


Thus, although Donald Winnicott seemed to enjoy a life of medical privilege on the outside, just beneath the surface he struggled with a sense of professional impotency, reminding one of the famously chilling riddle: “What do you call a man who graduated at the bottom of his medical school class? A doctor!”


A sense of inadequacy dogged Winnicott not only in the workplace but, also, in his marriage to Alice Winnicott, because, as I have come to learn from interviews with family members, he simply could not penetrate his wife sexually. Whether Winnicott had actually attempted to engage in copulation and failed, or whether Alice had resolutely refused him access to her body, we certainly do not know. But, according to the reminiscences of several of Alice's relatives, the Winnicotts slept in separate bedrooms (Kahr, 1995e, 1996e), and Alice confessed to at least one family member that she had never, ever, experienced sexual intercourse and that she would die a virgin (Kahr, 1995f).


In a state of desperation in both his professional and private lives, Winnicott craved assistance, and thus, already quite familiar with the potentialities of psychoanalysis from his copious readings, he arranged for a consultation with Dr Ernest Jones, the founding President of the British Psycho-Analytical Society and, also, Freud's leading disciple in London. In a little-known, virtually forgotten radio interview, Winnicott actually reminisced about his first meeting with Dr Jones, claiming that the Welsh-born psychoanalyst understood his “illness” rather well (quoted in Jones and Ferris, 1959). Indeed, when describing Jones, many



years later, Winnicott (1968c) recalled that, “Ernest Jones had the largest desk I have ever seen”, a reflection, no doubt, of Winnicott's admiration of Jones’ huge potency and sense of command. In view of these comments, and of the long-standing professional relationship which would ensue between these two men over the next thirty-four years or more (e.g., Jones, 1944; Kahr, 2023b), it would not be unreasonable to suspect that Jones provided Winnicott with a very helpful experience, and that he earned Winnicott's gratitude for having encouraged the younger man to embark upon a course of full psychoanalysis—then practised six days weekly, from Monday to Saturday inclusive—in Gordon Square, in the heart of Bloomsbury, Central London, with the newly qualified James Strachey, freshly returned from his own apprenticeship in Vienna with Sigmund Freud.


Winnicott's analysis on Strachey's couch proved to be a very rich and sustaining experience; indeed, he would remain in treatment for no less than ten years—a length of time virtually unheard of in the 1920s and 1930s. Sadly, in spite of the affection and dedication which both analyst and analysand shared during this lengthy process, Strachey did breach Winnicott's confidence on multiple occasions and described some of the intimate details of Winnicott's analysis to his own wife, Alix Strachey. From the correspondence which has survived, we know that James Strachey communicated to his wife about Winnicott's inability to engage in copulation. In fact, Alix Strachey, then resident in Berlin, Germany, undergoing personal analysis with Dr Karl Abraham, actually wrote to her husband, enquiring about the progress of Winnicott's treatment. She even dared to wonder whether this young man might ever “f-ck his wife all of a sudden” (Alix Strachey,4 1924, p. 166). In view of James Strachey's own extensive history of homosexuality during his youth—having indulged in “obscene loves” (Stephen, 1909, p. 63; cf. Sherman, 1983; Deacon, 1985)—one cannot help but wonder whether Alix Strachey's curiosity about penetrativity referred solely to Donald and Alice.


Assuming that Winnicott had, in fact, told Strachey the truth about his sexless marriage, how can we come to understand this situation?


Those of us who work with sexually troubled and anaesthetised spouses might well be able to offer a multitude of hypotheses as to the reasons why couples become asexual. Perhaps one or other of them had



struggled with homosexual impulses and fantasies as a result of particular early parental identifications and hence experienced little or no heterosexual desire. Perhaps one or other of them had suffered from bodily maltreatment or abuse which made the sight of exposed and vulnerable genitalia deeply frightening. Perhaps one or other member of the couple became burdened by unresolved Oedipal attractions and experienced a deep unconscious sense of loyalty towards a revered parental figure which prevented any spousal intimacy.


It would, of course, be irresponsibly presumptuous to do more than speculate as to why Donald and Alice could not copulate; consequently, I must underscore that we cannot possibly know the full reason, or reasons, for the failure of Donald and Alice Winnicott to have done so.


Although the inability to engage in a penetrative sexual relationship would evoke strong concerns among those of us living in the twenty-first century, during the 1920s—approximately one hundred years ago—the sexless marriage proved by no means unusual, as many religious, post-Victorian Britons regarded physical intimacy as both unclean and, also, as un-Christian, giving rise to a widespread phenomenon of unconsummated marriages (Friedman, 1962).


Perhaps a richer investigation of the early life of Alice Buxton Taylor Winnicott might help us to appreciate more fully what apprehensions and fears she might have brought to the marital bed at 89, Ditton Hill Road, in Surbiton, Surrey. On the surface, Alice seemed to have it all. A bright woman, skilled in both the sciences and the arts, she had held a research post at the National Physical Laboratory in Teddington, Middlesex, during the Great War (Newnham College Register: 1871–1950. Volume I. 1871–1923, 1963), where she undertook important work on optical glass (Pyatt, 1983), which would be used in the manufacture of rangefinders and other types of essential wartime equipment (Magnello, 2000). An excellent painter and potter who played the recorder and who enjoyed socialising, she seemed, at least on the surface, an ideal spouse.


Although quite competent, if not gifted, as a scientist, Alice Winnicott had suffered tremendously in her private life. Her father, Professor John Taylor, an extremely distinguished gynaecological surgeon and, also, a religious fanatic, may have terrorised his children. Professor Taylor (1894c, p. 344) specialised in the treatment of carcinoma of the vulva



and other forms of “fatal vulvo-vaginal disease” as well as syphilitic elephantiasis of the vulva, and he wrote numerous medical papers on genital cancers and upon their surgical extraction (e.g., Taylor, 1894a, 1894b, 1894c, 1895). One can readily imagine a literate, intellectually curious girl such as Alice stumbling upon her father's papers and photographs in his study, and one cannot help but wonder whether her understanding of the female genitalia of adult women thus became a fearful one—something disease-ridden, waiting to be cut with a knife. Perhaps Alice even experienced her husband Donald—also a doctor—as having a knife-like penis which could inflict some horrific damage upon her. Although one of John Taylor's three daughters, Mary Taylor, did marry and did produce children, the other two did not, and Alice became a lifelong virgin, while her sister, Pauline Taylor, known widely as “Paul”, became lesbian, and avoided any contact with the male genitalia entirely.


Not only might Professor Taylor have intimidated his daughter due to his devotion to gynaecological surgery but, moreover, he and his wife, Mrs Florence Maberly Taylor, failed to provide a model of couple unity for their children, as Professor Taylor elected to share a house with his own sister, rather than cohabit with his wife and five children (Kahr, 1995e).


In addition to her fears of genitalia and, furthermore, her possible loathing of sex, Alice had other struggles as well. As a young researcher at the National Physical Laboratory, she suffered a significant head injury when struck by a large metal pendulum (Taylor, 1941; Bradshaw, 1996). Although we have no proper neuroimaging data about the precise nature of her condition, we do know that she began to experience narcolepsy sometime thereafter which may, or may not, have resulted from the head trauma. But, as time progressed, she also began to hallucinate and to suffer from obsessional states of mind. Indeed, according to several witnesses, Alice Winnicott would imagine that she could see and hear the famous military officer and adventurer Thomas Edward Lawrence—better known as “Lawrence of Arabia”—in her bedroom (Kahr, 1995e).


Thus, in spite of Alice's many lovable and admirable qualities, she also had the capacity to become mentally and physically absent and distracted on innumerable occasions, giving rise to accusations of being



dotty (Kahr, 1996e) or, indeed, fully mentally ill (e.g., Khan, 1987). According to Alice Buxton Taylor Winnicott's nephew, the late Professor Anthony Bradshaw, she drove her family “completely and utterly mad” (quoted in Kahr, 1995e; cf. Kahr, 1996c).


What drew Donald Winnicott to a woman of so much strength, ability, and intelligence but, also, such fragility, at the very same time?


As it happens, both of Winnicott's parents could be described as simultaneously potent and, also, impotent. Donald's father, Frederick Winnicott, ran a successful business, became mayor of Plymouth twice, and fathered two daughters and a son, while also devoting considerable time and energy to the Wesleyan Methodist church. His wife, Elizabeth Winnicott, proved to be the ideal consort to her mayor husband and attended innumerable official functions and, even, set up a support group for local mothers and their children. But, after hours, Frederick Winnicott struggled with learning difficulties, never having received a formal education, and this remained an area of great sensitivity (Winnicott, n.d.). In similar vein, Elizabeth Winnicott suffered with her own distress and seems to have succumbed to intermittent depressions, prompting her son Donald to recall her as “weeping / weeping / weeping” (Winnicott, 1963j, p. 29) during his childhood (cf. Winnicott, 1963k). In view of Elizabeth Winnicott's fight against depression, the young Donald Winnicott may have experienced his mother as having a psychological head injury of sorts, just as his future spouse, Alice, also had a head injury, albeit of a different type.


On a conscious level, Donald chose Alice as a woman from a similar social class, professional background, and educational milieu, whom he found physically pleasing, intellectually stimulating, and playfully entertaining. Consciously, she proved the perfect candidate. Unconsciously perhaps, he had selected a symbolic version of a parent, both stable and fragile at once, prompting us to speculate that Donald gravitated towards Alice in order to fulfil what Freud (1910, p. 396) would have referred to as a “Rettungsphantasie”—a “rescue phantasy”—of becoming the doctor to his own ill mother. While Winnicott could not cure Elizabeth, Lady Winnicott, of her depression, or of the catarrhal pulmonary illness which finally claimed her life at the age of sixty-three years, he may well have wished, perhaps, that he could help Alice, victim of a head injury and, moreover, of a frightening father. Alice may well



have found Donald's status as a medical man quite appealing, hopeful that he might become the safe version of the doctor whose scalpel would never eviscerate her vulva.


Throughout the 1920s and the 1930s, Alice and Donald did, to the very best of our knowledge, remain loyal to one another, in spite of the complete sexual anaesthesia which had become institutionalised between them. Nevertheless, as the years unfolded, both Dr and Mrs Winnicott began to abandon one another physically and emotionally. Winnicott completed his ten-year analysis with James Strachey and, also, his intensive training in both adult psychoanalysis and child psychoanalysis at the Institute of Psycho-Analysis in London, and he became increasingly active within the British Psycho-Analytical Society as a committee member and as a frequent scientific contributor. His pioneering work on the interface between paediatrics and psychoanalysis and, also, his contributions to the development of psychoanalytical child psychiatry, as well as to the practice of adult psychoanalysis, became so profound and popular that he received many invitations to lecture, both nationally and internationally. Winnicott even held the distinction of having become the first psychoanalyst in Great Britain to broadcast regularly on the radio (e.g., Winnicott, 1949a; cf. Kahr, 2015d, 2018, 2023a). Consequently, he arranged his life in such a way that he had very little time for his wife.


Alice, too, became successful in business, and she opened up her own pottery in Kent and soon began to manufacture earthenware which she sold to some of the largest shops in London, such as Heal and Son on Tottenham Court Road. Collectively, the Winnicotts began to lead loyal but, in fact, quite parallel—even separate—private lives.


Across the 1930s, in particular, Donald Winnicott's professional potency grew by leaps and bounds. Having begun his career with a notion of himself as a marginal physician, working in a very unpopular, denigrated area of clinical practice, he eventually progressed to become a leader within the burgeoning field of psychoanalysis. Though his old colleagues in medicine and surgery did not rate his psychoanalytical contributions at all during that point in history, the members of the international Freudian community certainly did, and Winnicott soon came to occupy a place of enormous privilege, renowned for his theoretical



brilliance, his vast clinical experience with children, and his compelling public lecturing style. Indeed, it will not be fully appreciated that the child psychoanalytical training at the Institute of Psycho-Analysis and the treatment of young people at the London Clinic of Psycho-Analysis flourished almost entirely because of Winnicott, as virtually all of the patients who attended for treatment did so upon his recommendation, owing to the fact that Winnicott had numerous cases to refer through his position at the Paddington Green Children's Hospital. Thus, although completely undistinguished as a medical student at Jesus College in the University of Cambridge and at St. Bartholomew's Hospital Medical College, Winnicott had, at last, acquired a more profound sense of capability, fuelled, in large measure, as a result of a very lengthy and stable analysis with James Strachey.


By the 1940s, Winnicott, no doubt sexually frustrated, had begun to test his newfound psychological potency with other women, and he became extremely flirtatious and seductive with his secretary, “Mrs Gladys Watson-Dixon”,5 and with at least one of his colleagues, Mrs Marion Milner, who developed a huge erotic attraction towards him, which he inflamed, not least when he became her psychoanalyst and treated her, not in his consulting room on Queen Anne Street in Central London but, rather, in her own home on Provost Road in Chalk Farm (Kahr, 2011, 2015a, 2023b). Although once a rather undistinguished member of the medical community at St. Bartholomew's Hospital, Donald Winnicott had since become arguably one of the more outstanding people within the British psychoanalytical establishment. Although Dr John Bowlby (1951a) would soon come to rival, if not surpass, Winnicott in terms of international impact through impressive work commissioned by the World Health Organization in the early 1940s, Bowlby had not yet achieved the extent of the prominence which lay in wait; hence, of his generation, Winnicott certainly held pride of place.


During the Second World War, Winnicott worked as a Consultant Psychiatrist to the Government Evacuation Scheme in Oxfordshire and Berkshire, helping to care for emotionally ill children who had to flee from London to avoid the Blitzkrieg. In that context, he met an extremely compelling young social worker, Miss Clare Britton, with whom he came to collaborate increasingly closely. Miss Irmi Elkan (1995), a child care



officer who later became a psychoanalyst, recalled seeing Donald and Clare together during the war years, and could appreciate at once the smouldering attraction between the married, older physician and the unmarried, younger social worker. Miss Britton, quite deeply smitten, harboured such a protective crush on Dr Winnicott that she regarded Miss Elkan as a potential rival and treated her, at first, in rather a frosty manner.


Donald Winnicott's new lover seemed to have made quite an impact. In later years, after she had begun to teach social work trainees, one of her former students described her to me as a “bombshell” (Roberts, 1994; cf. Kahr, 1996a), while the noted Jungian analyst, Dr Michael Fordham, remembered her as something of an “anima woman” (quoted in Kahr, 1994c; cf. Kahr, 1996a) or femme fatale. Donald Winnicott may have found these seductive qualities irresistible, and hence, the relationship blossomed. Before long, he embarked upon a full-fledged extramarital affair with Clare Britton. Thus, Winnicott may well have lost his virginity, at last, shortly before his fiftieth birthday.


In view of Dr Winnicott's growing discontent with Alice and his burgeoning attraction to Clare, he certainly contemplated ending his marriage. But, at that point in time, most British people disapproved of divorce wholeheartedly as a violation of the sacred marital bonds. One need merely recall the huge scandal evoked by the former British monarch, Edward VIII, for having embarked upon a relationship with an American divorcée, Mrs Wallis Warfield Simpson. Consequently, Donald Winnicott found himself trapped by his own religious upbringing and by the disapproval of his elderly father, Sir Frederick Winnicott, who, like many spiritually observant Britons of the period, regarded divorce as sinful.


Thus, the newly potent Donald Winnicott found himself in a true dilemma. He had fallen in love with Clare Britton; but, as a full-time psychoanalyst and as a man who had enjoyed long-term attachments across the course of his lifetime—consisting of a ten-year relationship with his first analyst, James Strachey, followed by a six-year or seven-year commitment to his second analyst, Joan Riviere—he certainly did not abandon intimate relationships lightly. Winnicott still loved his wife Alice, but he also harboured resentments towards her, no doubt, as he might well have felt emotionally neglected by her, just as she might well have experienced psychological abandonment from him.




Their childless marriage, though by no means a problem inherently, began to vex both Donald and Alice at a more symbolic level. During the war, Alice came to work in a voluntary capacity with psychiatric patients at Napsbury Hospital on the outskirts of St Albans in Hertfordshire, and there she befriended a very ill schizophrenic woman whom she invited home to the Winnicott residence on Pilgrim's Lane in Hampstead, in North-West London.6 Before long, this troubled individual, “Susan”, began to live in the Winnicotts’ spare bedroom on a full-time basis. Donald, too, brought many patients home with him, including, most famously, the little vagrant boy about whom he came to write in his famous paper on “Hate in the Counter-Transference” (Winnicott, 1949b). Across the 1940s, Donald and Alice became honorary parents to several psychiatric patients and turned their house into a prescient and pioneering therapeutic community of sorts. Desperate to save some of these individuals from the cruel somatic treatments then offered by psychiatrists, such as leucotomies and electroconvulsive shocks, the Winnicotts transformed their domestic residence into what they hoped would be a safe haven (Kahr, 2011, 2015a, 2023b). But they did so at great cost to themselves. Alice, untrained in psychology, had to undertake the bulk of the caretaking of these “inpatients”, as Donald worked all day with his own patients in London and, also, in Oxfordshire and Berkshire.


Before long, the marriage between Alice and Donald had reached a point of crisis and, in 1949, he succumbed to a near-fatal coronary. Donald spent several months convalescing in his bedroom at Pilgrim's Lane but, alas, Alice did not care for him at all well and, according to the testimony of Winnicott's private secretary, Mrs Joyce Coles, Alice would often spend hours in her pottery and would somehow forget to check on her husband or bring him food and drink (Kahr, 1994g). On several occasions, Alice, quite unconsciously, even caused a fire in the house when her pottery kiln exploded; and, on another occasion, she nearly killed both herself and Joyce Coles by falling asleep at the wheel of her automobile (Kahr, 1994g).


In many respects, Mrs Coles’ description of Pilgrim's Lane during the time of Winnicott's cardiac convalescence serves as a chilling symbolic portrait of the inner marital world shared by Donald Winnicott and Alice Winnicott, namely, one of simultaneous explosion and neglect.




Not long after Winnicott's recovery, he resumed clinical consultations with patients, but his marriage still vexed him. At one point, he invited Alice to lunch and told her that he had fallen in love with someone else and that he no longer wished to be married to her. He then returned to his consulting room to treat a patient. Distraught, Alice eventually barged into his private office suite on Queen Anne Street and began to pound on the door of her husband's consulting room in rage and tears. Joyce Coles, the secretary, had to bar the door bodily to protect her employer, Dr Winnicott, then mid-session with a patient, and, in consequence, she had to drive Alice back home to Hampstead. Mrs Coles, a gracious lady who never spoke viciously about anyone, did, however, confess that she thought Donald quite cruel to have ended his marriage with Alice over a meal in a public restaurant (Kahr, 1994g).


Not long thereafter, Alice Winnicott instituted formal divorce proceedings and, eventually, the couple parted after more than twenty-eight years of marriage.


The Second Mrs Winnicott


On 28th December, 1951, Donald Winnicott, freshly divorced from Alice Winnicott, wed Clare Britton and launched upon a new life in a large house in Belgravia, in South-West London, not far from Buckingham Palace. This happy new couple would remain married to one another for the next nineteen years until Winnicott's death from heart disease on 25th January, 1971. Virtually everyone who knew Donald and Clare as a couple spoke about the depth of their love, the tenderness and playfulness of their interactions, and the warmth of their marriage (e.g., Kahr, 1996c). They travelled together; they held successful parties together; they read each other's writings; they took an extremely detailed interest in one another's professional lives; and they stayed up late into the night painting, or watching television, or, even, making love.


Although Donald had already reached his mid-fifties at the time of their marriage, he and Clare did endeavour to make a baby, albeit unsuccessfully. Joyce Coles, the secretary, confirmed that she had seen various medical papers which indicated that the couple had, in fact, undergone fertility testing (Kahr, 1995g).




The second Mrs Winnicott proved to be a very attentive, creative, stable, and loving spouse, to whom Dr Winnicott remained devoted. Plagued by cardiac illness, Donald claimed that without Clare he would have died twenty years sooner (Tizard, 1971). Indeed, Clare offered such comfort to Donald that he once underscored to the psychiatrist Dr Lawrence Goldie (1994)—somewhat inaccurately—that he had experienced all of those coronaries during his marriage to Alice and none during his relationship with Clare.7
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